1977

Juanita J. Meyer v. General American Corporation
A Corporation, Paul J. Angelo v. William R.
Mccurtain : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The petitioner respectfully appeals from the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as entered, and the Judgment entered by the Honorable Peter F. Leary in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County that the Appellee's security interest was superior to Appellant's ownership.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The District Court decided that Appellant's purchase was a fraudulent sale within the Utah Fraudulent Conveyance Act and was, therefore, void.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant respectfully submits that the case should be reversed and judgment entered in favor of Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an action to determine rights in a D-9 Caterpillar tractor. Appellee claims an interest by virtue of a security interest while Appellant claims ownership through a bill of sale.

The Appellee loaned money to General American Corporation. General American purchased a caterpillar with part of this money and granted a security interest in the tractor to Appellee at that time. The security interest was never perfected in the manner provided by Utah law (R-243).

Subsequently, on May 1, 1974, a company named Terra Corporation, loaned \$2,000 to General American Corporation. A promissory note was executed in favor of Terra Corporation as well as a security interest in the tractor with General American Corporation as debtor and Terra Corporation as creditor (R-305). This security interest was recorded October 25, 1974 (R-241).

On July 8, 1974, Terra Corporation gave General American Corporation another \$500 and cancelled the \$2,000 promissory note dated May 1, 1974. In return, General American Corporation signed a bill of sale for the caterpillar to Terra Corporation.

On July 9, 1974, Terra Corporation sold the caterpillar to Appellant, a Dodge dealer in Rock Springs, Wyoming (R-273). Appellant had bought and sold equipment of this type in the past (R-275). The caterpillar was hauled to Wheeler Machinery Company's yard in Salt Lake City, Utah on July 18, 1974 (Exhibit 2-D). Discovering this on July 26, 1974, Appellee's attorney advised Wheeler Machinery that Appellee owned the caterpillar and requested that it not be delivered to anyone, including Appellant (R-248).

The Appellant was unaware of any claims against the caterpillar. He first learned of Appellee's claim when he brought a prospective buyer to Wheeler's yard to inspect the equipment. An employee of Wheeler informed Appellant at that time (R-291). Plaintiff filed a complaint in the District Court of Salt Lake County on October 11, 1974, against General American Corporation and had a prejudgment attachment issue against the caterpillar. On learning of this, Appellant intervened on April 22, 1975.

A trial was had to determine the priority of rights in the tractor.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A PURCHASER'S INTEREST TAKES PRECEDENCE OVER
AN UNPERFECTED SECURITY INTEREST IN CHATTEL.

The Utah Uniform Commercial Code - Secured Transactions
sections -- should have governed the trial court's decision.

Utah Code Annotated, §70A-9-102 provides:

"Except as otherwise provided in §70A-9-103 on multiple state transactions and in §70A-9-104 on excluded transactions, this chapter applies so far as concerns any personal property and fixtures within the jurisdiction of this state,

- a. to any transaction (regardless of its form) which is intended to create a security interest in personal property or fixtures including goods, documents, instruments, . . ."

None of the excluded transactions in Utah Code Annotated, §70A-9-104 apply to the instant case and it is not a multiple state transaction within Utah Code Annotated, §70A-9-103.

The Appellee loaned money to General American Corporation and a security interest in personal property was granted in her favor (R-323). Therefore, the Uniform Commercial Code - Secured Transactions statutes were applicable to this transaction. (See UCC sections cited above.)

Under the Utah Uniform Commercial Code a security interest may either be perfected or unperfected. In most instances, a financing statement must be filed to perfect a security interest.

Utah Code Annotated, §70A-9-302 provides:

"A financing statement must be filed to perfect all security interests except the following:"

None of the enumerated exceptions are applicable to the case at bar.

The Appellee did not file a financing statement, and thus, did not perfect her security interest in the caterpillar. This is pointed out in the testimony of Vera Duglietta, Supervisor of the Uniform Commercial Code Department of the Secretary of

State's Office:

Q. And did you examine the files and records of the Secretary of State's Office for a filing on the same caterpillar tractor by Juanita Meyer?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you find such a file?

A. No. (R-243).

It is clear that while the Appellee had a security interest in the caterpillar tractor, such security interest was not perfected. The issue, therefore, is whether the Appellee's unperfected security interest takes precedence over the interest of Appellant.

The Appellant's interest can be described as either an owner's interest or a purchaser's interest. The Appellant purchased the tractor from Terra Corporation for \$2,500 together with a promise of the division of profit on resale (R-287). Appellant did, in fact, pay the \$2,500 (Ex. 15-D), and a bill of sale in favor of Appellant was executed by Terra Corporation (Ex. 16-D).

Utah Code Annotated, §70A-9-301 designates who takes priority over unperfected security interests as follows:

"Except as otherwise provided in subsection (2) an unperfected security interest is subordinate to the rights of

(c) in the case of goods . . . a person who is not a secured party and who is a transferee in bulk or other buyer not in ordinary course of business to the extent that he gives value and receives delivery of the collateral without knowledge of the security interest and before it is perfected."

Thus, it would appear that the Appellant should have prevailed over the Appellee if:

1. He was a buyer, not in the ordinary course of business;
2. He gave value for the caterpillar;
3. He received delivery of the caterpillar;
4. He was without knowledge of Appellee's interest and before Appellee's security interest was perfected.

There is no question that Appellant was a purchaser of the caterpillar and, inasmuch as Terra Corporation was not in the business of selling equipment, Appellant would be considered to be a buyer, not in the ordinary course of business, Utah Code Annotated, §70A-1-301(9).

There is also no question that the Appellant gave value as he paid \$2,500 and gave a promise to split the profits (R-287). Furthermore, after purchase, the caterpillar was delivered to Wheeler Machinery yard for an estimate on repairs for Appellant (Ex. 2-D) and that further delivery to Appellant personally was prevented by the letter from Appellee's attorney dated July 26, 1974 (Ex. 4-D), and the prejudgment writ of attachment. Exhibit 4-D is a letter by Appellee's attorney to Wheeler Machinery to demand from them that they not deliver the tractor to Appellant, or anyone, on the grounds of Appellee claiming an interest in the tractor. Appellant, in his testimony, stated he came to Salt Lake City, Utah, to take possession of the tractor at Wheeler's yard and was refused by an employee of Wheeler (R-291). Therefore, Appellant would ask this Court to find delivery within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated, §70A-9-301 by virtue of the fact that the caterpillar was

delivered to Wheeler's yard, or to find that delivery was not a requirement inasmuch as Appellee prevented the same. There is also no question that Appellant did not have knowledge of Appellee's interest at the time he paid the consideration and received the bill of sale. (The only evidence in the record regarding this issue is Appellant's own testimony at R-295). Finally, it is clear that Appellee's interest was not perfected.

Therefore, under the provisions above pleaded, Utah Code Annotated, §25-1-13, Appellant's ownership interest should take precedence over Appellee's unperfected security interest.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S PURCHASE WAS VOID WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE UTAH FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCE ACT.

In the Findings of Fact, which incidentally were prepared by Appellees counsel and submitted two months after the trial without prior consultation, approval, or even notice to Appellant's counsel, the trial court found that the purported sale of the D-9 Caterpillar from Terra Corporation to Appellant was not made for a fair equivalence within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated, §25-1-3 (1953), since the sale price of \$2,500 was less than thirteen (13%) percent of the fair market value of the D-9 Caterpillar (R-211).

The evidence does not support this Finding. The testimony of expert witness Leo G. Bateman was as follows:

Q. Do you have an opinion as to its value?

- A. Yes, the tractor needs a little work on it, I estimate about \$2,000 worth of work. And I would say that the tractor should be worth between \$10,500 and \$11,000 with that much work on it.
- Q. And you base your estimate not only on your own knowledge, but on a book you brought with you to court?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What is that book?
- A. This is the "Thorpe Auction Price Guide for 1976" that we use as a blue book in equipment.
- Q. And doesn't the book that you've described show two D-9 tractors similar to the one in this action being sold, one for \$10,500 and one for \$10,750.
- A. (On line 28 of R-259) Yes.
- Q. Isn't it true Mr. Bateman, these auctions are dealer auctions, that the prices which are reflected here are wholesale prices? (Emphasis added.)
- A. Yes. If we bought at this price, we would have to add a fee to it (R 259-260).

This is the only evidence offered by either party as to the wholesale value of the tractor.

The testimony of Appellant shows he is a dealer in used equipment (R-272). Therefore, the trial court should have used the wholesale value of the tractor within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated, §25-1-3 (1953). This was not done. Instead the trial court confused the wholesale value of \$10,500 and the resale value of approximately \$20,000. Thus, the Court erred in its Finding of Fact that Appellant paid only thirteen (13%) percent of the fair market value of the subject caterpillar. Another error in the thirteen (13%) percent computation was the trial court's Finding of Fact that Appellant paid a total of \$2,500 for the caterpillar (R-211). The testimony of H. E.

Utah Code Annotated, §78-25-16 provides:

"There can be no evidence of the contents of the writing other than the writing itself, except in the following cases:

- (1) when the original has been lost or destroyed in which case proof of the loss or destruction must first be made,
- (2) when the original is in the possession of the party against whom the evidence is offered and he fails to produce it after reasonable notice.

The Appellee was allowed to testify about her knowledge of the books and records of General American Corporation over the Appellant's objection (R-341). There was no foundation that the books and records were lost, or destroyed. The only foundation laid was that Appellee was unable to inspect the books and records in 1974 because a Mr. Paul Angelos had the books and records (R-340). Subsection (2) of Utah Code Annotated, §78-25-16 provides that oral testimony is allowed only when the original is in the possession of the party against whom the evidence is offered. The evidence was offered against Appellant and he did not have possession of these records. Therefore, the Court erred in allowing this testimony. Thus, the trial court erred not only by not using the Utah Uniform Commercial Code provisions but also in finding a fraudulent conveyance under general Utah law. There is simply no evidence as to insolvency of General American Corporation and the Court's computation of the consideration paid was inaccurate and, thus, the finding of no fair equivalence of consideration is in error.

POINT III

THE CASE SHOULD BE REVERSED AND JUDGMENT ENTERED
ON BEHALF OF APPELLANT.

Damages for abuse of process is a proper remedy where
one with a subordinated interest wrongfully attaches property
against a rightful owner. Williams v. Western Surety Company
(1972) 10 UCC Rept. 122. Prime Bus Company v. Drinkwater (1966)
350 Mass. 642, 216 N.E. 2d 105.

In the case at bar, the Appellee caused a writ of
attachment to be levied against the caterpillar (R 8-9).
This was done merely on the strength of an unperfected security
interest. Appellant had superior rights in the caterpillar as
evidenced by his bill of sale. (See Argument, Point I.)
Therefore, wrongful writ of attachment damages should be
awarded to Appellant.

When the trial court erroneously decides a case, the
Supreme Court normally remands for a new trial and new Findings.
However, in this case, the evidence is clear that the market
value of the tractor is from \$20,000 to \$25,000. This is
evidenced from the Findings prepared by the Appellee and
part of the basis for Appellee's argument. Therefore, if this
court were to determine the priority of interests in favor of
Appellant and determine that under the Utah Uniform Commercial
Code, Appellant's ownership interest takes precedence over
Appellee's unperfected security interest, then Appellant should
be entitled to damages based on the market value of the tractor.
This is particularly true when the subordinate interest wrong-
fully issues a prejudgment attachment. See Williams v. Western

Surety Company, supra, and Prime Bus Company v. Drinkwater, supra.
By exercising the dominion and control over the caterpillar as Appellee did at the yard of Wheeler Machinery, a conversion occurs. Damages are properly the market value of the converted property. Therefore, using the Findings of the lower court that the market value would be \$20,000, this case should be reversed with instructions to enter judgment in favor of the Appellant in the amount of \$20,000.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's ownership interest in the caterpillar tractor in question prevailed over an unperfected security interest. The trial court erred in finding that the Utah Fraudulent Conveyance Act prevailed. The Court also erred in making a conclusion of fraud based upon a finding that the Appellant failed to pay a fair equivalent for the caterpillar tractor. The trial court, in this regard, erred in two particulars: First, the trial court erred by finding that \$2,500 was the full purchase price Appellant paid for the tractor when, in fact, the evidence showed that he paid \$2,500 plus a promise to split one-half of the profits. Further, the trial court erred in using the retail price in computing the percentage which Appellant paid for the tractor. When properly computed, the evidence showed that Appellant paid slightly more than the evidence of wholesale value of the caterpillar. Also there is no evidence of insolvency. Therefore, the conveyance to Appellant was in no way fraudulent.

The trial court erred in not using the statutes of the Uniform Commercial Code - Secured Transactions. The issue in this case was who held a superior right to the caterpillar. Appellee had an unperfected security interest and Appellant had a bill of sale. The trial court should have used the applicable Uniform Commercial Code statutes to decide whose interest was superior. If this would have been done, then the damages for wrongful writ of attachment would clearly have been the last issue to be decided.

This case should be reversed and remanded, not with instructions for a new trial, but to enter judgment in accordance with the evidence in favor of the Appellant in the amount of \$20,000.