1977

Juanita J. Meyer v. General American Corporation
A Corporation, Paul J. Angelo v. William R.
Mccurtain : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Third, Plaintiff testified, without objection, that in the spring and summer of 1974 GAC failed to make any payments on her loan (R. 328 L. 30 and R. 329 Ls. 1-4). See Larrimer v. Feeney, 192 A.2d 351, 353 (Pa. 1963) ("Insolvency in the equity sense ... is the inability to meet obligations as they mature"). See also, Utah Code Ann. § 25-1-5 (1953).

Finally, Plaintiff testified that her examination of GAC records revealed that GAC liabilities exceeded GAC assets (R. 34 Ls. 14-29). Intervenor objects to the admission of this testimony, claiming that it violates the best evidence rule found at Utah Code Ann. § 78-25-16 (1953). See Intervenor's Brief at 9-10. Plaintiff has several observations with respect to this objection.

First, even without this testimony, as indicated above, there is sufficient credible evidence in the record to support the lower court's finding that GAC was insolvent at the time it conveyed the caterpillar to Terra Corporation; and this evidence was not contradicted by Intervenor at trial.

Second, both § 78-25-16 and Utah Rules of Evidence 70 make an exception to the best evidence principle "when the

original has been lost or destroyed, in which case proof of the loss or destruction must first be made." Utah Code Ann. § 78-25-16(1) (1953). This exception is consistent with the basic premise of the best evidence rule:

The production-of-documents rule is principally aimed, not at securing a writing at all hazards and in every instance, but at securing the best obtainable evidence of its contents. Thus, if as a practical matter the document cannot be produced because it has been lost or destroyed, the production of the original is excused and other evidence of its contents becomes admissible. Failure to recognize this qualification of the basic rule would in many instances mean a return to the bygone and un lamented days in which to lose one's paper was to lose one's right. Recognition of the same qualification also squares with the ancillary purpose of the basic rule to protect against the perpetration of fraud, since proof that failure to produce the original is due to inability to do so tends logically to dispel the otherwise possible inference that the failure stems from design. (Emphasis in original.) D. McCormick, McCormick's Handbook of the Law of Evidence § 237 at 570 (2d Ed. 1972).

Given this premise, courts generally require a reasonably diligent search for original documentary evidence before secondary evidence to prove the content of writings is admitted. Id. at 570-571. Questions relative to the adequacy of this search are matters largely within the trial court's discretion. "Such discretion is particularly appropriate since the character of the search required to show the probability of loss or destruction will, as a practical matter, depend on the circumstances of each case." Id. See also, J. H. Wigmore, Evidence § 1194 at 442 (Chadbourn Rev. 1972) ("...the determination of the sufficiency of the search and in general of the fact of loss should be left entirely to the trial court's discretion") (emphasis in original). Utah has apparently followed this approach. See

Stevens v. Gray, 259 P.2d 889, 891 (Utah 1953) ("Ordinarily, if an explanation of failure to produce such record is satisfactory to the trial court it is within his discretion to receive other evidence concerning such facts"). Indeed, modern authorities suggest that it is a "waste of time" for appellate courts to review such discretionary rulings. See J. H. Wigmore, Evidence § 1195 at 445-446 (Chadbourn Rev. 1972). See also, D. McCormick, McCormick Handbook of the Law of Evidence § 243 at 577-578 (2d Ed. 1972) (Admission of secondary evidence is harmless error in absence of good faith dispute relative to accuracy of secondary evidence).

The record shows that Plaintiff made an adequate search for GAC's business records (R.339-340). These records were in the custody of GAC's president, Paul J. Angelos (R. 340 Ls. 10-12). Mr. Angelos, who was an adverse party in this action (R. 2-7) refused to grant Plaintiff access to these records (R. 339 Ls. 27-30 R. 340 Ls. 1-3), even after Plaintiff had made requests for their production (R. 30-31). This fact alone is sufficient to justify the lower court's admission of the disputed testimony. See J. H. Wigmore, Evidence § 1212 at 487 (Chadbourn Rev. 1972) ("It is also often said that where the third person is hostile and fraudulently detains the document, this fact of itself suffices to excuse nonproduction, although such an instance is perhaps equally well disposed of by the doctrine of loss ... ") (emphasis in original). See also Snow v. Utah Automobile Dealers, 188 P.2d 742, 744 (Utah 1948). Additionally, Mr. Angelos had left

the country; and, although he had come back to the United States, it was impossible to locate him (R. 340 Ls. 16-17). The lower court could reasonably have inferred from these circumstances that Mr. Angelos was not within the State of Utah. Again, this fact alone is sufficient to justify the lower court's admission of the disputed testimony. See Utah Rules of Evidence 70(1)(b); Johnson v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, 100 P. 390, 395 (Utah 1909) ("... the letter in question was not within the jurisdiction of the court, and the rule, as declared by the great weight of authority, is that when a writing which is necessary in evidence is traced to the hands of a party not within the State, secondary evidence, without further showing, may be given to prove the contents of such writing"); and Dwyer v. Salt Lake City Copper Mfg. Co., 47 P. 811, 812 (Utah 1896). Finally, Plaintiff made extensive personal efforts to locate Mr. Angelos (R. 340 Ls. 18-25). This evidence justifies the lower court's exercise of discretion in admitting the disputed testimony.

(3) Fair Consideration. The Utah Fraudulent Conveyances Act defines "fair consideration" as follows:

Fair consideration is given for property, or obligation:

(1) When in exchange for such property, or obligation, as a fair equivalent therefor, and in good faith, property is conveyed or an antecedent debt is satisfied Utah Code Ann. § 25-1-3 (1953).

Section 25-1-3 requires that the conveyance be made for both a "fair equivalence" and in "good faith." Thus, a showing that either of these elements is lacking is sufficient to support the lower court's finding of fraudulent conveyance in the present case.

(a) Fair Equivalence. Although this court has indicated that fair equivalence does not mean exact equivalence or equal value, "fair valuation [does] mean such a price as a capable and diligent businessman could presently obtain for the property after conferring with those accustomed to buy such property" Utah Assets Corporation v. Dooley Brothers Association, 70 P.2d 738, 741 (Utah 1937). Thus, for example, this court has upheld a lower court's finding that giving \$38,120.00 in exchange for property with a proven worth of \$290,000.00 (only 13% of the property's proven worth) was not a fair equivalence. See First Security Bank of Utah v. Vrontikis Brothers, Inc., 490 P.2d 1301 (Utah 1971). Judged by this standard, the caterpillar's sale price to both Terra Corporation and Intervenor (\$2,500.00) was grossly disproportionate to the caterpillar's real value (\$20,000.00 to \$30,000.00).

Intervenor attacks the lower court's finding that the caterpillar was not sold for a fair equivalence on two grounds. First, Intervenor suggests that the court erred in basing its fair equivalence finding on retail rather than wholesale value.

Intervenor fails to cite any case supporting the proposition that wholesale rather than retail value should be used in ascertaining the fair equivalence of an alleged fraudulent conveyance. This failure is not surprising in light of the Dooley court's fair equivalence standard: "Such a price as a capable and diligent businessman could presently obtain for the property after conferring with those accustomed to buy such property." Utah Assets Corporation v. Dooley Brothers Association, 70 P.2d 738, 741 (Utah 1937). In seeming anticipation of this standard, Intervenor himself testified that "I had the tractor sold for \$20,000, so that establishes a pretty good value." (R. 278 Ls. 27-28. See also R. 279 Ls. 13-19.)²

In addition to his own testimony on this point, Intervenor produced two experts at trial. One expert, Mr. Coltharp, testified that the caterpillar's value was \$20,000 to \$25,000 (R. 301 Ls. 21-29). Intervenor's other expert, Mr. Bateman, whose testimony is set forth in part in Intervenor's Brief at 7-8, testified that the caterpillar's wholesale value was approximately \$10,750; but Mr. Bateman further testified that brokers of heavy equipment would raise this price to "whatever"

²According to Intervenor's Deposition, this \$20,000 price was based on the caterpillar in its present unrehabilitated condition (McCurtain Deposition at 26). Intervenor further admits that when necessary repairs are made the caterpillar could be worth as much as \$30,000 (R. 290 Ls. 17-24. See also McCurtain Deposition at 42).

market would stand." (R. 260 L. 8.)³

This evidence reveals considerable disparity between the caterpillar's fair value and the amount Intervenor actually paid for the caterpillar. Thus, it was not unreasonable for the lower court to rule that "fair consideration" was not given in exchange for the caterpillar. Even accepting Intervenor's wholesale figure of \$10,750, it would not be unreasonable for the lower court to conclude that 25% of value was not "fair consideration" under the circumstances of the present case. This conclusion is reinforced by the fact that each decision as to the fairness of consideration in fraudulent conveyance cases must be made from the standpoint of creditors. See Larrimer v. Feeney, 192 A.2d 351, 354 (Pa. 1963) and Osawa v. Orishi, 206 P.2d 498, 504 (Wash. 1949).

Second, Intervenor contends that he paid more than \$2,500 for the caterpillar because he had an oral agreement to split profits with H. E. Thomas, president of Terra Corporation, in the event that Intervenor resold the caterpillar. However, the lower court could have found this testimony implausible for several reasons.

³ It is possible that the lower court attached greater weight to the testimony of Intervenor and Mr. Coltharp with respect to the caterpillar's value because (1) counsel for Intervenor insisted in his opening remarks that "the evidence will show the tractor is worth approximately \$20,000-twenty to thirty is my client's opinion and he is a dealer" (R. 236 Ls. 25-57) (even on appeal, Intervenor insists that, for purposes of assessing wrongful attachment damages against Plaintiff \$20,000 is the proper figure, see Intervenor's Brief at 11-12); and because (2) Mr. Bateman's testimony was substantially impeached at trial (R. 261-270).

First, the written documents accompanying Terra Corporation's sale of the caterpillar to Intervenor made no mention of a profit sharing agreement. Indeed, the bill of sale (Exhibit 16-D) specifically recites that the "caterpillar is free and clear of any liens, claims or demands of any person whatsoever ..."

Second, after purchasing the caterpillar from Terra Corporation, Intervenor pledged it for a \$6,000 bank loan. This pledge agreement bore only Intervenor's and not Terra Corporation's signature (R. 289 Ls. 18-23). It seems improbable that a bank would loan \$6,000 without first ascertaining and binding every party who had any interest in the loan collateral. Indeed, the pledge agreement (R. 182) specifically recites at paragraph 5 that "the debtor is ... the owner of the collateral ... [and] the collateral is ... free and clear of all liens, claims, charges, encumbrances, taxes and assessments," and at paragraph 7(e)(3) Intervenor promises to "keep the collateral free from all liens, claims, charges, encumbrances, taxes and assessments."

Finally, the profit sharing agreement is arguably inconsistent with Intervenor's testimony that he purchased the caterpillar "sight unseen" because of its extraordinarily low price (R. 296 Ls. 21-27. See also R. 284 Ls. 27-30).

All of these facts could have persuaded the lower court that the caterpillar was not purchased by Terra Corporation and Intervenor for a "fair equivalence" within the meaning of the Utah Fraudulent Conveyances Act.

(b) Good Faith. Not only must Intervenor show that there was insufficient evidence to support the lower court's findings with respect to the "fair equivalence" issue, but also Intervenor must show the same insufficiency with respect to the "good faith" of the Terra Corporation-Intervenor transaction.

Intervenor claims that he purchased the caterpillar in "good faith" because "there is no evidence in the record indicating [Intervenor] had previous knowledge of any fraudulent intent." Intervenor's Brief at 9. However, the statute which Intervenor relies on in support of this claim does not speak in terms of "previous knowledge" but rather in terms of "previous notice." See Utah Code Ann. § 25-1-13 (1953). In Utah "whatever is notice enough to excite attention and put [Intervenor] on his guard and call for inquiry is notice of everything to which such inquiry might have led." McGarry v. Thompson, 261 P.2d 288, 290 (Utah 1948). There was considerable evidence at trial from which the lower court could have found that Intervenor was put on notice that all was not right with respect to his purchase of the caterpillar.

1. Intervenor himself testified that the caterpillar's low purchase price was unusual.

Q. Mr. McCurtain, you've said that this was a normal transaction. I'm confused by what you meant as "normal." Is it normal to purchase a caterpillar tractor for 10% of its value in the trade; is that a normal transaction in your dealings in heavy equipment, or is that a little unusual to have that kind of a deal?

A. That is unusual. (R. 296 Ls. 21-27.)

In fact, the caterpillar's purchase price was so unusually low that Intervenor did not bother to inspect the caterpillar before purchasing it.

Q. Is it your custom, Mr. McCurtain, to purchase heavy equipment sight unseen?

A. When they're as low priced as that equipment is, it certainly is. (R. 284 Ls. 27-30. See also R. 288 Ls. 20-25.)

2. There was evidence to suggest that the Terra Corporation-Intervenor transaction was a "sham"; and that, despite the appearance of a conveyance from Terra Corporation to Intervenor, GAC and Terra Corporation actually retained "possession" of the caterpillar. The Utah Fraudulent Conveyance Act defines this circumstance as "conclusive evidence of fraud as against ... creditors ..." Utah Code Ann. § 25-1-14 (1953). See also, Givan v. Lambeth, 251 P.2d 959, 962 (Utah 1960) (defining this circumstance as a "badge of fraud").

Terra Corporation purportedly sold the caterpillar to Intervenor on July 9, 1974 (Exhibits 15-D and 16-D). However, the caterpillar was hauled at Terra Corporation's request into Wheeler Machinery Company's yard on July 18, 1974 (R. 247 Ls. 23 and Exhibits 2-D and 3-D. See also R. 252 Ls. 3-12). Thereafter, GAC and Terra Corporation principals requested Mr. Bateman, a heavy equipment dealer, to inspect the caterpillar (R. 269 Ls. 10-13). These same principals wanted Mr. Bateman to make

offer to purchase the caterpillar (R. 270 Ls. 4-6). In October, 1974, these principals requested a Burt Gallo to do repair work on the caterpillar (Affidavit of Juanita J. Meyer in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment ¶ 11, R. 83-88) and GAC's attorney proposed to Plaintiff that GAC sell the caterpillar to a buyer in Emery County, Utah and split the proceeds with Plaintiff (Id. ¶ 13). During this same time period, Wheeler notified GAC that storage charges were being assessed against the caterpillar (R. 254-255) and Wheeler billed Terra Corporation for those charges (Exhibit 2-D). The lower court could have found these circumstances suspect in light of GAC's professed sale of the caterpillar to Terra Corporation on July 8, 1974, and Terra Corporation's professed resale of the caterpillar to Intervenor on July 9, 1974.⁴

Intervenor did not attempt to remove the caterpillar from Wheeler's yard from July 9, 1974 when he allegedly purchased the caterpillar until almost a year later in April, 1975 when he filed his complaint in intervention in the present case.

⁴ Terra Corporation may argue that it incurred these added expenses and took this added interest in the caterpillar because of its supposed agreement to split profits with Intervenor in the event that he resold the caterpillar. However, this reasoning does not explain GAC's continued interest in the caterpillar. Moreover, this reasoning is inconsistent with Mr. Thomas' testimony that Terra Corporation was willing to sell the caterpillar for only \$2,500 because it had no experience in heavy equipment dealing and because it wanted to break even at \$2,500 with its sale of the caterpillar to Intervenor (R 308 Ls. 38-30, R. 309 Ls. 1-9. See also R. 313 Ls. 2-9, R. 314 Ls. 9-12).

Intervenor may argue that he was unable to remove the caterpillar because Plaintiff's counsel had instructed Wheeler not to release the caterpillar. However, Plaintiff's counsel had not attached the caterpillar at that point in time. Intervenor made no effort whatsoever, e.g., by legal process or even by contacting Plaintiff's counsel, to remove the caterpillar. Indeed, after being notified by Wheeler in July that Plaintiff asserted an interest in the caterpillar, Intervenor nevertheless returned to Wyoming and solicited offers for resale of the caterpillar (R. 291-292). The lower court could have found that this was abnormal behavior in light of Intervenor's professed concern about removal of the caterpillar from Wheeler's yard.

Even as late as October, 1974, when Plaintiff finally threatened to attach the caterpillar, Paul Angelos, president of GAC, and not Intervenor, responded to this threat. Mr. Angelos' attorney wrote to Wheeler informing them that "Paul Angelos will deliver this letter to you and will expect to remove the D-9 caterpillar upon paying your bill for its repairs." (Exhibit 6-D. See also R. 248 Ls. 21-25.) Again, the lower court could have found such a letter anomalous in light of GAC's purported sale of the caterpillar to Terra Corporation in July, 1974. The lower court could have further found it odd that the purportedly true owner of the caterpillar, Intervenor, failed to take steps during this time period to protect his interest in the caterpillar.

Finally, evidence that Terra Corporation filed a financing statement against the caterpillar after Plaintiff attached the caterpillar (compare Exhibit 1-D and R. 13-14) and when Terra Corporation supposedly had no further interest in the caterpillar could have convinced the lower court that there was a collusive scheme to defraud Plaintiff as between GAC, Terra Corporation and Intervenor.⁵

All of the facts outlined above suggest that GAC and Terra Corporation were in constructive possession of the caterpillar throughout 1974 and that no delivery of the caterpillar was made to Intervenor when such delivery was possible. Under the mandate of § 25-1-14 the lower court could have treated these circumstances as conclusive evidence of a scheme to defraud Plaintiff.

3. Finally, there was evidence to suggest that the principals of GAC and Terra Corporation and Intervenor were attempting to "keep secret" their transactions with respect to the caterpillar. This court has also labeled these circumstances

⁵The lower court's suspicions could have been further aroused in this regard by the fact that Plaintiff was precluded from filing her own financing statement against the caterpillar in the early summer of 1974 because her statement lacked the debtor, GAC's, signature. This signature may have been fraudulently withheld from Plaintiff (see Affidavit of Juanita J. Meyer in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment ¶ 9, R. 83-88).

as a "badge of fraud." See Givans v. Lambeth, 351 P.2d 959, 961 (Utah 1960).

Plaintiff testified that she made extensive efforts over a period of months to communicate with GAC and Terra Corporation principals but received no response from them (R. 329-331 and Exhibit 7-D. See also R. 331 Ls. 20-30 and R. 332 Ls. 1-2). Intervenor's failure during this same time period, despite his knowledge of Plaintiff's asserted claim in the caterpillar, to come forward and notify Plaintiff of his asserted claim in the caterpillar could have also aroused the suspicions of the lower court.

For all of the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff submits that the trial court was justified in finding that the Terra Corporation-Intervenor transaction was not made in "good faith" and, therefore, violated the Utah Fraudulent Conveyances Act.

III. PLAINTIFF IS NOT LIABLE TO INTERVENOR FOR WRONGFUL ATTACHMENT OF THE CATERPILLAR.

Intervenor argues in his Brief at 11-12 that he is entitled to damages for Plaintiff's "wrongful attachment" and "conversion"⁶ of the caterpillar.

⁶Intervenor's complaint does not plead conversion and a conversion claim was not tried in the lower court. Therefore, Intervenor cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal. See e.g., Simpson v. General Motors Corp., 470 P.2d 399, 401 (Utah 1970). Examination of the two cases cited in Intervenor's Brief at 11-12 reveals that they are both conversion cases and are thus inapposite.

Intervenor's Complaint (R. 50-53) attempts to state two claims. The second claim is for malicious prosecution and abuse of process. Intervenor waived this claim at trial (R.233 Ls. 24-29). This left Intervenor's first claim, which he characterizes on appeal as a claim for wrongful attachment (R. 233 L. 30 and 234 Ls. 1-4).

However, it appears that Intervenor's second claim is in reality his claim for wrongful attachment. "It is well settled that an action may be maintained against the attaching plaintiff for a wrongful and malicious attachment, this being in the nature of a malicious prosecution or malicious abuse of process and governed by essentially the same rules." 7 C.J.S. Attachment § 516 at 663 (1937). If so, then by waiving his second claim at trial, Intervenor has waived his wrongful attachment claim.

Even assuming that Intervenor has not waived and has properly plead a wrongful attachment claim,⁷ Intervenor must show that Plaintiff was actuated by malice or that she acted wrongfully before he can prevail on this claim.

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